

Thesis Booklet

Application of Novel Approaches in Optimal and Adaptive Optimal Control

Hazem Issa

Supervisor Prof. Dr. József K. Tar

Doctoral School of Applied Informatics and Applied Mathematics

July 2023

Contents

Abstract	1
1. Introduction	2
1. Motivations and Goals	2
2. State of Arts	3
3. Research Methodology	8
2. Investigations About Computational Acceleration For Optimization	
Problems	9
3. Improvement of the Fixed Point Iteration-based Adaptive Receding	
Horizon Controller	10
4. Investigation of the Cooperation of Noise Filtering Methods With	
Fixed Point Iteration-based Adaptive Techniques	11
5. Implementing Fixed Point Iteration-based Adaptive Control and	
Particle Swarm Optimization	12
6. Conclusions	13
Own Publications	14

Abstract

In my Thesis I elaborated certain improvements in the subject areas of Optimal and Adaptive controllers with the main aim of realizing their efficient integration. In the traditional mainstream, optimal controllers are based on the mathematical foundations of functional optimization under constraints. The adaptive controllers that tackle strongly nonlinear problems normally use Lyapunov functions for the calculation of the control signal. Both structures have their own inner rigidity that makes their combination not trivial. Recognizing that the mathematical structure of the alternative of the Lyapunov function-based technique, the Fixed Point Iteration-based adaptive control immediately allows the integration of the various particular variants of these methods, I concentrated on the elaboration of adaptive optimal controllers. I have shown that by eliminating the constraint terms in the optimal control by incorporating the dynamic model in the cost functions the computational burden of the method can be significantly reduced in the case of quite sophisticated cost functions. I also elaborated improvement in the FPI-based adaptive controllers by reducing its noise sensitivity using simple filtering techniques, and efficiently tackled the problem of actuator saturation. I suggested separate or optionally partly coupled application of this adaptive method with parameter identification purposes the need of which arose not from the side of control applications. I pointed out the limitation of the evolutionary algorithms in parameter identification issues, and suggested the use of the improved identified model with the same adaptive technique to improve its stability. The statements of my Thesis are underpinned by simulation investigations I made by the use of Julia language programs.

1. Introduction

1.1 Motivations and Goals

In practical control tasks various typical problems must be tackled as e.g., the lack of precise dynamic model of the system to be controlled, the presence of unknown external disturbances and their consequences, limited physical possibilities for introducing control force or other equivalent action into the controlled process, limited possibilities for measuring or at least estimating the controlled system's actual physical state. For tackling at least certain elements of these problems various control methodologies have been elaborated. Some of them were based on particular mathematical formalism that do not seem to be easily combined with each other. In this field of efforts there is a plenty of open problems and a general lack of integration can be observed. The question naturally arose: is it possible to reach certain achievement in this direction? My work was motivated by this simple question. Explanation of the precise mathematical details of which I obtained my motivations can be given only after the state-of-the-art review. In the sequel I give only a short summary of my ideas.

The Model Predictive Controller (MPC) was early idea developed for utilizing the available dynamic model of the controlled system. In order to provide the designer possibility for force limitations or complying with various other, often contradictory requirements, these controllers mathematically were formulated as solutions to the optimization under constraints tasks. Normally, the cost functions represented some weighted sum of various penalty terms that should have been minimized, while the dynamic model of the controlled system appeared in the constraint terms. In the early dynamic programming approach the mathematical background was the minimization of functionals with strong analogy of the variation principles of Classical Mechanics. The computational power -requirements of this approach was considerably reduced by the application of time grid with discrete time-resolution in the Receding Horizon Controller (RHC) that maintained the constraint terms with combination with the Lagrange multipliers. The practical applicability of this approach strongly depended on the dynamics (speed) of the physical process to be controlled, and the technological level of the available processors that were able to realize these control methods. I realized that in this formalism there is a great freedom for the designer to play with the possibilities for distributing certain details between the cost and the constraint terms. This possibility made me carrying out simulation investigations.

Whenever the computational resources were not rich enough to apply the complex mathematical framework of optimized controllers, as e.g., in Robotics in the nineties of the past century, the dynamic model was utilized without being

placed into the mathematical framework of optimal controllers. The so called Computed Torque Control (CTC) had to scope with the problem of lacking reliable and precise dynamic models. It became clear in the early nineties that no such models can be constructed even within the Classical Mechanics-based framework that does not consider friction effects. In the literature coping with the problems of incomplete and imprecise models generally happens by the use of either Robust design as the Variable Structure / Sliding Mode Controller, or by the application of Adaptive techniques. The Sliding Mode controller often produces dangerous excitation of the controlled system while the mainstream of the finer adaptive controllers is based on Lyapunov's 2nd or direct method. I recognized that from various points of view this method is very complicated, needs complete state estimation, so the question naturally arose whether is it possible to combine with the optimal control approach its possible, more simple alternative that was based on Banach's fixed point theorem? For this reason I carried out simulation investigations with this mathematically simple approach.

In the modern control approaches the efficient tool of evolutionary algorithmsbased system identification methods can be found. It was a natural idea to investigate how is it possible to combine evolutionary methods-based system identification techniques with the fixed point iteration-based adaptive control.

In dynamic control problems the presence of observation or sensor noise is a general problem. Due to the structure of the fixed point iteration-based approach it was expected that the noise issues have enhanced significance in this case. Therefore, I felt strong motivation to consider noise filtering possibilities. The success of the Acceleration Feedback Controllers that have to cope with similar problems convinced me that it is not hopeless to make investigations in this direction.

1.2 State of Art

In control technology, various control methods are present in the inventory of possible solutions. The appropriate choice can be selected according to various particular and practical aspects related to a given task, and there is no way to generally state that a given method would be superior in comparison with others. Such properties as mathematical complexity, the need for computational power, the need for a more or less precise dynamic model of the controlled system, robustness against modeling errors and external disturbances, adaptivity, and possibilities for implementation can be considered when a control approach is chosen to tackle a given problem.

The wide set of model-based controllers belong the (MPC) (e.g., [1]) in which beside the dynamic model of the controlled system various force limitations and other restrictive factors can be taken into account that originate from sources other than the model. It was successful especially in the control of slow processes as e.g., crystallization, that can be traced by computers of limited computational power. For finding the optimum a computationally greedy approach was suggested in the late Fifties of the past century as Dynamic Programming that aimed at the minimization of functionals [2, 3]. The computational power of this approach later was reduced by solving this problem over a discretized time-grid and using numerical approximations under the name Receding Horizon Controller [4]. However, the original elegant structure in general was maintained. The analogy with the Canonical Equations of Motion of Classical Mechanics were maintained with related issues as the flow of incompressible fluids and conservation rule for the Hamiltonian (or artificial Hamiltonian) of the controlled system (e.g., [5]). These controllers generally applied Lagrange's Reduced Gradient Algorithm [6] for problem solution. In special cases as linear time-invariant system models and quadratic cost functions, also utilizing the theoretical results by Riccati [7] and Shur [8, 9], considerable mathematical simplifications were achieved under the name Linear-Quadratic Regulators [10]. This approach was able to treat modeling errors in a very simple manner: the optimized motion was designed for a whole horizon, but normally only one step of this optimized force was exerted on the system, and in the next step a new horizon have been calculated again.

Whenever the computational resources were not rich enough to apply the complex mathematical framework of optimized controllers, as e.g., in Robotics in the nineties of the past century, the dynamic model was utilized without being placed into the mathematical framework of optimal controllers. The so called Computed Torque Control (CTC) [11] had to scope with the problem of lacking reliable and precise dynamic models. It became clear in the early nineties that no such models can be constructed even within the Classical Mechanics-based framework that does not consider friction effects [12]. Various friction models were considered with regard to slow velocity motion where the phenomenon stick–slip' typically occurs (e.g., [13, 14, 15]). It was also realized that building in even the simplest friction models leads to observation or identification problems (e.g., [16]). High complexity friction models need the introduction of complementary degree of freedom (DOF) as in the LuGre model [17].

In many cases, a simple PID-type controller invented in the 1940s [18] can do well. In robotics, the direct use of the dynamic model without inserting it into the mathematical framework of optimal controllers was initiated in the 1980s [11] in the concept of (CTC). In this approach the inverse dynamic model is directly used for the calculation of the control signal without using the mathematical complex-

ity of the optimal controllers. However, it became clear very early that practically it is impossible to develop precise dynamic robot models (e.g., [12]), and that the identification of important parameters related to modeling the friction effects has limitations, too (e.g., [16]).

The robust variable structure/sliding mode controllers that became popular in the 1990s (e.g., [19]) are simple solutions that can solve the problem of modeling errors and unknown external disturbance. In a similar manner, resolved acceleration rate control (e.g., [20]) and acceleration feedback controllers (e.g., [21]) can be considered as improvements of the CTC controllers.

The wide class of adaptive controllers tackle the imprecisions of the models in different manners. The widest subset uses Lyapunov's stability theorems and keeps prevailing from the early 1990s to the present (e.g., [22]) as well as the model reference adaptive control (e.g., [23]). Normally, stability or asymptotic stability of these solutions are guaranteed for a huge set of possible parameters of which the appropriate ones can be selected on the basis of practical aspects often applying various versions of evolutionary computation as genetic algorithms [24, 25], particle swarm optimization [26, 27, 28, 29], simulated annealing [30], and so on.

Strong non-linearity is a natural feature of most physical, biological, economic, and engineering systems. In spite of that most of traditional software packages solving optimization problems can normally handle only linear timeinvariant system models with typically quadratic cost function structures because this restricted subject area can be tackled by well-elaborated and efficient mathematical tools as the application of Riccati equations [7] (it provides the solution of special first-order quadratic differential equations by solving second-order linear ones), Schur's decomposition method that obtains the solution of quadratic matrix equations by solving linear ones [8, 9]. For solving linear matrix inequalities in system and control theory a complete program was announced by Boyd et al. in 1994 [31] for which efficient MATLAB program packages have been developed [32]. The mainstream of the engineering research efforts aimed at the elaboration of approximate linear system models and quadratic cost functions for tackling optimization problems by the use of this efficient mathematical apparatus. In [33], the linear matrix inequality (LMI) condition based on slack variables was used to reduce the high gains of control, resulting in using the robust \mathscr{H}_{∞} state feedback controllers.

However, for more complex dynamical models and specially structured cost functions the more general mathematical context does not allow such relatively simple solutions. Instead of using ready-made program packages researchers have to develop their own program codes that are not supported by the rigorous and reliable quality guaranties of the MATLAB packages.

From a mathematical point of view, optimization can be formulated by the

use of variation calculus. In the 1950s, i.e., in the advent of the appearance of powerful computers, Bellman introduced dynamic programming [2] that computationally is too greedy. The problem was later simplified by the introduction of a discrete, evenly scaled time-grid of resolution δt that is dense enough to allow numerical differentiation and Euler integration over it. The sum of the cost function contributions in the grid points of a horizon of discrete length H was minimized for a first-order dynamical system under the constraint $\frac{q(t_{i+1})-q(t_i)}{\delta t} \approx \dot{q}(t_i)$ in which the function $\dot{q}(t_i) = \mathscr{F}(q(t_i), u(t_i))$ describes the dynamic model of the controlled system, and $u(t_i)$ denotes the control force. By the use of the usual constraint function $g_i(q(t_i), q(t_{i+1}), u(t_i)) := \frac{q(t_{i+1}) - q(t_i)}{\delta t} - \mathscr{F}(q(t_i), u(t_i))$, a general cost function (with a simpler notation) $\sum_{\ell=1}^{H} \Phi(q_\ell, u_\ell)$ has to be minimized over the horizon by varying the coordinates $\{q_2, \ldots, q_H\}$ $(q_1$ is given as the initial condition of the motion), and force terms $\{u_1, \ldots, u_{H-1}\}$ (because u_H has influence only on the next grid point at time t_{H+1}). The optimization must have done under the constraints $g_i(q_i, q_{i+1}, u_i) = 0$. It traditionally can be solved by the use of Lagrange's reduced gradient method by using Lagrange multipliers for gradient reduction that was introduced in the late 18th century for solving constrained problems in Classical Mechanics [6]. It can well be used for controlling slow processes as e.g., crystallization in chemistry [34, 1] and traffic control [35, 36]. Later, it obtained ample applications from the 1960s with the development of computer technology that provided easy implementation possibilities (e.g., [37, 38]). The scheme description is known as the (RHC) [4] which is a reliable, heuristic realization of the (MPC) (e.g., [39, 40]) that has many applications (e.g., [41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46]). The adaptive version of RHC were investigated in many cases, such as in [47] wherein the used Adaptive Receding Horizon Controller (ARHC) is based on Lyapunov's adaptation law, whereas in [48], the adaptive controller is based on the set membership identification algorithm, which iteratively calculates at each cycle a set of candidate plant models. The general ARHC is used in [49] along with particle swarm optimization (PSO). Implementing the sliding mode (SM) as an adaptive technique for ARHC is addressed in [50].

Because of the fact that the Lagrange multipliers normally have clear physical interpretation (e.g., [51]), and the strong analogy with the canonical equations of Classical Mechanics [52, 53, 5] that provides solutions similar to the the flow of incompressible fluids, together with the plausible mathematical consequences of this approach, the constraint-based formulation of the problem generally prevailed, though it is not the computationally simplest and cheapest approach. These analogies are derived from considering the auxiliary function of the problem in (1)

$$\Psi(\{q\},\{\lambda\},\{u\}) := \sum_{\ell=1}^{H} \Phi(q_{\ell},u_{\ell}) - \sum_{\ell=1}^{H-1} \lambda_{\ell} g_{\ell}(q_{\ell},q_{\ell+1},u_{\ell}) \quad .$$
(1)

Evidently, $\Psi(\{q\},\{\lambda\},\{u\})$ is not bounded, and at the point where the gradient reduction algorithm stops, it satisfies the equations as $\frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial \lambda_i} = 0$, meaning that the solution satisfies the constraint conditions, $\frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial q_k} = 0$ that can be so interpreted that the reduced gradient is 0, and an additional condition $\frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial u_i} = 0$. These partial derivatives allow the interpretation of the appearance of the numerical approximation of a differential equation for λ , considering the q_i and λ_i pairs as canonical coordinate pairs, and interpreting Ψ as a Hamiltonian with the conservation property $\dot{\Psi} \equiv 0$. The analogy with the flow of incompressible fluids is related to the fact that the canonical state propagation equations are related to symplectic transformations that conserve the volume of the phase space (Liouville's theorem, e.g., [5]).

The numerical algorithm that solves the above problem is commenced by finding a point on the constraint surface by using the Newton-Raphson algorithm [54, 55, 56], then making consecutive small steps along the reduced gradient $\nabla \Phi - \sum_{\ell} \lambda_{\ell} \nabla g_{\ell}$ in which the Lagrange multipliers are so chosen that for the constraint gradients it must be valid that $\forall j (\nabla g_j)^T (\nabla \Phi - \sum_{\ell} \lambda_{\ell} \nabla g_{\ell}) = 0$ (in this formulation the symbol ∇ contains $\frac{\partial}{\partial q}$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial u}$ components). Gradient reduction needs the solution of this linear set of equations. The algorithm stops when the reduced gradient becomes zero. It was realized that placing the dynamic model into the constraint term of the optimization task is rather a tradition than a necessity. If we do not insist on the above mentioned elegant formal analogies with classical mechanics, the complexity of the calculations can be considerably reduced. In the original approach the free variables of the optimization are the coordinate values $\{q\}$, and the force terms $\{F\}$ over the horizon, and the quantities that additionally have to be calculated are the $\{\lambda\}$ Lagrange multipliers for reduction of the gradient containing the partial derivatives according to the components $\{q\}$ and $\{F\}$. In [57], the structure of the auxiliary function was investigated in the case of a simple paradigm, and it was found that the appropriate solution is at its saddle point. Furthermore, instead of using a set of individual constraint functions for optimization as $\{g_{\ell} = 0\}$, the use of a single constraint term defined as $G := \sum_{\ell} g_{\ell}^2 = 0$ can be successfully applied with only one associated Lagrange multiplier that can very easily be computed. In [58], the use of the Lagrange multipliers was completely evaded, and the method's operation was illustrated by controlling the dynamic model of two connected mass points that were able to move in a given linear direction. In this approach, the free variables of the optimization are only the force terms $\{F\}$ over the horizon, the gradient in the optimization consists only of the $\frac{\partial}{\partial F}$ components, and the simple gradient descent method can be applied without any gradient reduction. Following this simple illustration, the method was used for simulating the treatment of illness type 1 diabetes mellitus in determining the necessary insulin ingress rate, and the estimation of the evolution of the not observable internal model variables. In [59], this approach was considered for the RHC control of the Furuta pendulum [60], and in [61, 62] application possibilities were considered in solving the inverse kinematic task of redundant robots.

With regard to the significance of the effects of measurement noises, in the traditional literature, in which normally PID-type feedback terms are used, and in the adaptive control some Lyapunov function-based techniques are prevailing, the noise terms are modeled as additional terms of more or less marginal significance. Generally it is assumed that the physical causes of the noise terms are not identified and individually modeled. It is assumed that the effect of a large number of statistically independent noise sources produce some result of normal distribution with zero mean if the appropriate sensors are well installed. The effect of the lost signals together with the additional Gaussian noise are assumed and, for instance, the Kalman filters are so designed that they are optimized for this Gaussian spectrum (e.g., [10, 63, 64, 65]). However, it can be emphasized that the digital components in the realistic applications do not allow to realize the long tail of the Gaussian distributions, and the originally causal models are treated as really causal ones burdened with the additional noise terms. (The control of stochastic processes is absolutely out of the scope of my dissertation.) Since the Fixed Point Iteration-based method feeds back higher order derivatives than the traditional ones, and the adaptation mechanism of this approach learns from the observations of the recent time instances, any noise filtering technique causes some delay that may corrupt this very special and primitive learning method. Therefor, the use of this method made it necessary to consider noise filtering issues.

Since in the numerical control the mathematical properties of the differentiation can cause high noise-like contribution, the traditional approach simply applies low pass filters as e.g., Bodó and Lantos in [66], in my dissertation I also applied it in one of the theses. For fixed point iteration-based control specific preliminaries as ad hoc ideas can be found in [67, 68, 69, 70].

1.3 Research Methodology

All investigations of the proposed theoretical algorithms and their engineering applications are tested via running the simulation on Julia Language. The reason behind selecting Julia is related to its wide availability as a free and opensource software, capability for providing professional visualization methods that fit the publication requirements. Besides that, its fast processing that reflects the most modern computational technologies against the lack of resources was an important motivation for its use.

The used editions of Julia during the research are v1.4.2-win64 (May 25, 2020), v1.4.2-win64 (July 7, 2021) and lastly v1.8.0 (September 6, 2022). The supporting environments are Python v3.7 and v3.9 so that the visualization in Julia and the possible use of the qt back-end (i.e., it applies the Python's Matplot Library) were important facts that motivated my choice.

2. Investigations About Computational Acceleration For Optimization Problems

The Lagrange's method has considerable computational needs that mathematically describe the constrained physical systems in Analytical Mechanics [6]. However, nowadays, in the possession of cheap computers and software products it became a practical problem solving tool for instance in the Solver package of MS EXCEL that can be applied in financial and technical problems (e.g., [71, 72]). In many cases the Lagrange multipliers have important physical meaning, therefore it is necessary to compute them (e.g., [73, 51]), and the Solver package also computes them.

This chapter (in the full version of dissertation), in its first part, investigates the possibility of speeding up the computations of solving constrained optimization problems by avoiding the calculations of individual Lagrange multipliers. While at the second part, the suggested alternative method is tested by using a 7-DOF redundant robot system.

Thesis Statement I

I have recognized that in contrast to the traditional approach of optimal controllers, in which the optimization of a cost function happens via individually dealing with each dynamic model term as a constraint equation, it is possible to construct a single constraint equation that guarantees the fulfillment of each original constraint. In this new approach, similarly to the traditional one, the Newton-Raphson algorithm is used for finding a point on the embedded hypersurface that contains the possible solutions, and Lagrange's Reduced Gradient Algorithm is used for moving along the hypersurface, but in our case only one Lagrange multiplier can be used. By directly using the Gram-Schmidt algorithm for gradient reduction, in this manner considerable decrease in the computational efforts became possible.

I have observed that in application areas that contain singularities (e.g.,

in solving inverse kinematic task of redundant robot arm) this approach is sensitive to the presence of kinematic singularities as well as the Moore-Penrose pseudoinverse-based solutions that need the application of complementary tricks for dealing with near singularity solutions. I have recognized that the common reason of this sensitivity is that the constraints are exactly taken into account in both cases.

Related publications to Thesis I: Related own publications: [A. 1] and [A. 2]

3. Improvement of the Fixed Point Iteration-based Adaptive Receding Horizon Controller

In this chapter (in the full version of dissertation), I have investigated the applicability and limitations of using "Adaptive Receding Horizon Controller (ARHC)" in various engineering applications. Because the Fixed Point Iterationbased Adaptive Control method is considered in the Thesis, it is expedient to briefly summarize its essence in the sequel.

Thesis Statement II

I have elaborated further modification of the Receding Horizon Controller. By directly incorporating the dynamic model into the cost function calculated over a horizon, I have completely eliminated the use of the constraint term from the formalism. I have shown that by the application of a transition between the simple Gradient Descent and the fast Newton-Raphson Algorithms an efficient method can be developed for finding the local minima. In this manner strong penalization of high forces became possible, however, the method did not guarantee the evasion of actuator saturation and windup problems in the Fixed Point Iteration-based adaptive control.

To tackle actuator saturation and windup problems I have elaborated a complementary method in which a hypothetical heavy device model was applied in the optimization of the trajectory, and the so obtained optimized trajectory was adaptively tracked by a realistic not heavy approximate dynamic model. The main benefit of this approach is that the optimization's mathematical structure can be completely separated from that of the adaptive tracking.

Related publications to Thesis II: Related own publications: [A. 3], [A. 4], [A. 5] and [A. 6].

4. Investigation of the Cooperation of Noise Filtering Methods With Fixed Point Iteration-based Adaptive Techniques

In chapter. 2 (in the full version of dissertation) I briefly mentioned that in dynamic control problems the presence of observation or sensor noise is a general problem. The special structure of the Fixed Point Iteration-based approach makes one expect that the noise issues have enhanced significance in this case. The success of the "Acceleration Feedback Controllers" (e.g., [74]) that have to cope with similar problems also confirm the idea that useful investigations can be done in this direction. Fixed point iteration-based control specific preliminaries as "ad hoc" ideas were already published in [67, 68, 69, 70]. I already applied -in previous chapter (in the full version of dissertation)- the traditional low pass filter technique that was borrowed from [66, 75]. In this chapter (in the full version of dissertation) I summarize the results of my own novel investigations.

The first part investigates a very drastic noise filtering technique that was introduced to support the operation of the adaptive control. Its basic idea is affine approximation of the various derivatives within successive moving windows. This idea was checked in cooperation of a special "continuous variant" of fixed point transformations. The investigations were made for the modified van der Pol oscillator that had an additional quadratic drag force term also used before.

The second part outlines the comparison between Unscented Kalman Filter (UKF) and two methods based on Fixed Point Operation-based adaptive controllers.

Thesis Statement III

By the use of simulation results I have shown that the FPI-based adaptive technique can well cooperate with the simple noise filtering techniques as the cascade of moving windows with affine signal approximation and the simple low pass filter, that do not apply any assumption on the statistical nature on the measurement noises. I have also shown that it is difficult to combine this method with the more traditional UKF that was found less effective. As possible reason I identified the fact that the mathematical structure of the UKF cannot be so well fitted to that of the FPI-based adaptive approach.

Related publications to Thesis III: Related own publications: [A. 7], [A. 8] and [A. 9].

5. Implementing Fixed Point Iteration-based Adaptive Control and Particle Swarm Optimization

In comparison with the classical Lyapunov function-based parameter identificationbased techniques, the advantage of the fixed point iteration-based techniques is that they do not require the identification of the model parameters. However, for other purposes, especially in life sciences, certain parameter values have definite significance and their identification is required independently of solving the control task. This naturally make the question arise if is it possible to identify the system's parameters (or at least certain parameters of the system) while the FPIbased adaptive controller is in operation. It is well known that the early adaptive controllers in robotics [76] the dynamic model of the controlled system was so formulated that an array of the identifiable dynamical system parameters were separated from an array of kinematically precisely known components, and the approximate system parameters were slowly tuned by Lyapunov functions-based constructions. At beginning of the tuning process this method worked with large trajectory tracking error since it always used an only slowly improved parameter set for the calculation of the necessary control forces. Later Dineva combined this learning method with the FPI-based adaptive controller in [77, 78, 79]. The main idea was that the FPI-based control signal was used for realizing the adaptive control, but instead of the original PID-type feedback terms used by Slotine and Li, she utilized the FPI-based terms for parameter tuning. This method resulted precise tracking from the beginning, and the use of the improved parameters in the approximate model in the adaptive control was only "optional". In this research I investigated a similar problem: while the adaptive controller worked on an FPI basis, for the identification of the system parameters more general, evolutionary computation-based methods could be used. Utilization of the improved parameters in the adaptive control remained rather a "free option" than a must, as well as in the case of Dineva's investigations. For the simulations I have chosen a strongly nonlinear model with limited number of parameters, and a particular evolutionary method, the simple and elegant Particle Swarm Optimization method [26].

The first part investigates the limitations of the applicability of Particle Swarm Optimization (PSO) with Fixed Point Operation-based adaptive controllers in case of on-line mode. For this purpose a simple but strongly nonlinear dynamic model was chosen by the use of which the problems of the parameter identification tasks can be well illustrated, expounded, and understood. Especially the limitation of this method was pointed out when the identified model in certain steps replaced the originally used initial one (this is the meaning of the term "online mode").

In the second part I made studies on the off-line combination of Fixed Point

Iteration-based adaptive controllers with Particle Swarm Optimization (PSO) using a more complicated, realistic robot model. In this approach the (FPI)-based adaptive controller is used for tracking a nominal trajectory while the Particle Swarm Optimization (PSO) used to refine the model, without using the improved model in the control.

Thesis Statement IV

I have elaborated a cooperation between the Fixed Point Iteration-based adaptive control and a system parameter identification process using Particle Swarm Optimization. The method allowed online and offline modes. In the offline mode the adaptive control and the model identification tasks were completely decoupled, and the quality of trajectory tracking was independent of the actual phase of identification, and was precise from the beginning of the controller's operation.

I have shown that due to balancing problems in the online case no asymptotic convergence of the identified model can be expected. The fact that the use of the online mode is not compulsory in the novel approach is an advantage over the traditional ones that cannot avoid the application of the not well identified model from the beginning of the control.

Related publications to Thesis IV: Related own publications: [A. 10] and [A. 11].

6. Conclusions

In my Dissertation I brought about and investigated the integration of two subject areas in control technology: the optimal and the adaptive controllers. After realizing that both subject areas have their traditional mathematical back-grounds, namely the functional minimization in optimal control, and the use of Lyapunov functions tailored to the particular problem under considerations in adaptive control, that makes their integration mathematically very complicated and difficult, I realized that in a particular slot this integration is not difficult. It was the fixed point iteration-based adaptive control approach. I have shown that its simple mathematical structure offers plausible possibilities for combination and integration with the heuristic optimal controllers in which a great variety of cost functions and constraints can be applied. To utilize the so created freedom I have evaded the traditional optimization approach in which the dynamic model is used as a set of constraint equations. I reduced the number of constraint equations to one, and later completely evaded the use of constraint terms by building the dynamic model into the cost function at the price of little redundancies in

the computations. I have shown that these variants were able to cooperate with the adaptive technique I have applied, while allowed simplifications in finding sub-optimal solutions in the case of various complicated cost terms in Receding Horizon controllers. Besides control issues I suggested the application of this method in the solution of differential inverse kinematic task of redundant robot arms to efficiently tame the solution in the vicinity of kinematic singularities. Since the adaptive method applied was expected to be noise sensitive, I suggested its combination with various simple noise filtering techniques. I also improved the adaptive method that originally suffered from some deficiency related to actuator saturation issues.

Finally, I have elaborated the combination and elaboration of the adaptive control applied with parameter estimation task that have significance independently of the need of precise control. I have realized that by the use of the fixed point iteration-based approach the control and identification tasks can be optionally separated from each other, and arrived at the conclusion that due to balancing problems the precision of the estimation has limitations, and in general, it is expedient to use the improved model with some adaptive technique. I have shown that if the adaptation has to make only small corrections, its stability range increases and becomes much more reliable than the original approach using a very rough initial dynamic system model.

Own Publications

Publications Strictly Related to the Dissertation

[A. 1] H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "Speeding up the reduced gradient method for constrained optimization," in 2021 IEEE 19th World Symposium on Applied Machine Intelligence and Informatics (SAMI). IEEE, 2021, pp. 485–490.

[A. 2] H. Issa, B. Varga, and J. K. Tar, "A receding horizon-type solution of the inverse kinematic task of redundant robots," in 2021 IEEE 15th International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics (SACI). IEEE, 2021, pp. 231–236.

[A. 3] H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "Tackling actuator saturation in fixed point iterationbased adaptive control," in 2020 IEEE 14th International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics (SACI). IEEE, 2020, pp. 221–226.

[A. 4] H. Issa, B. Varga, and J. K. Tar, "Accelerated reduced gradient algorithm for solving the inverse kinematic task of redundant open kinematic chains," in 2021 IEEE 15th International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence

and Informatics (SACI). IEEE, 2021, pp. 387–392.

[A. 5] H. Issa, H. Khan, and J. K. Tar, "Suboptimal adaptive receding horizon control using simplified nonlinear programming," in 2021 IEEE 25th International Conference on Intelligent Engineering Systems (INES). IEEE, 2021, pp. 221–228.

[A. 6] H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "Preliminary design of a receding horizon controller supported by adaptive feedback," *Electronics*, vol. 11, no. 8, p. 1243, 2022.

[A. 7] H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "Noise sensitivity reduction of the fixed point iteration-based adaptive control," in 2021 IEEE 19th International Symposium on Intelligent Systems and Informatics (SISY). IEEE, 2021, pp. 171–176.

[A. 8] H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "Comparison of Various Noise Filtering Techniques in Strongly Nonlinear Adaptive Control," in 2022 IEEE 16th International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics (SACI). IEEE, 2022, pp. 347–352.

[A. 9] H. Issa, M. Al-Bkree, and J. K. Tar, "On Certain Noise Filtering Techniques in Fixed Point Iteration-based Adaptive Control," *SYSTEM THEORY, CONTROL AND COMPUTING JOURNAL*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 9–16, 2022.

[A. 10] H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "On the Limitations of PSO in Cooperation with FPI-based Adaptive Control for Nonlinear Systems," in 2022 IEEE 26th International Conference on Intelligent Engineering Systems (INES). IEEE, 2022, pp. 181–186.

[A. 11] H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "Improvement of an Adaptive Robot Control by Particle Swarm Optimization-Based Model Identification," *Mathematics*, vol. 10, no. 19, p. 3609, 2022.

Other Publications

[A. 12] H. Khan, H. Issa, and J. K. Tar, "Comparison of the operation of fixed point iteration-based adaptive and robust vs/sm-type solutions for controlling two coupled fluid tanks," in 2020 IEEE 20th International Symposium on Computational Intelligence and Informatics (CINTI). IEEE, 2020, pp. 29–34.

[A. 13] H. Khan, H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "Improved simple noise filtering for fixed

point iteration-based adaptive controllers," in 2020 IEEE 20th International Symposium on Computational Intelligence and Informatics (CINTI). IEEE, 2020, pp. 77–82.

[A. 14] H. Khan, H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "Application of the robust fixed point iteration method in control of the level of twin tanks liquid," *Computation*, vol. 8, no. 4, p. 96, 2020.

[A. 15] B. Varga, H. Issa, R. Horváth, and J. K. Tar, "Sub-optimal solution of the inverse kinematic task of redundant robots without using Lagrange multipliers," *SYSTEM THEORY, CONTROL AND COMPUTING JOURNAL*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 40–48, 2021.

[A. 16] B. Varga, H. Issa, R. Horváth, and J. K. Tar, "Accelerated reduced gradient algorithm with constraint relaxation in differential inverse kinematics," *SYS*-*TEM THEORY, CONTROL AND COMPUTING JOURNAL*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 21–32, 2021.

References

- N. Moldoványi, *Model Predictive Control of Crystallisers*. PhD Thesis, Department of Process Engineering, University of Pannonia, Veszprém, Hungary, 2012.
- [2] R. Bellman, "Dynamic programming and a new formalism in the calculus of variations," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 231–235, 1954.
- [3] R. Bellman, *Dynamic Programming*. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N. J., 1957.
- [4] J. Richalet, A. Rault, J. Testud, and J. Papon, "Model predictive heuristic control: Applications to industrial processes," *Automatica*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 413–428, 1978.
- [5] V. Arnold, Mathematical Methods of Classical Mechanics. Springer Verlag, 1989.
- [6] J. Lagrange, J. Binet, and J. Garnier, *Mécanique analytique (Eds. J.P.M. Binet and J.G. Garnier)*. Ve Courcier, Paris, 1811.
- [7] J. Riccati, "Animadversiones in aequationes differentiales secundi gradus (observations regarding differential equations of the second order)," *Actorum Eruditorum, quae Lipsiae publicantur, Supplementa*, vol. 8, pp. 66–73, 1724.
- [8] E. Haynsworth, "On the Schur complement," *Basel Mathematical Notes*, vol. BMN 20, p. 17, 1968.
- [9] A. Laub, A Schur Method for Solving Algebraic Riccati Equations (LIDS-P 859 Research Report). MIT Libraries, Document Services, After 1979.
- [10] R. Kalman, "Contribution to the theory of optimal control," *Boletin So-ciedad Matematica Mexicana*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 102–119, 1960.

- [11] B. Armstrong, O. Khatib, and J. Burdick, "The explicit dynamic model and internal parameters of the PUMA 560 arm," *Proc. IEEE Conf. On Robotics* and Automation 1986, pp. 510–518, 1986.
- [12] P. Corke and B. Armstrong-Helouvry, "A search for consensus among model parameters reported for the PUMA 560 robot," *Proc. IEEE Conf. Robotics and Automation*, 1994, pp. 1608–1613, 1994.
- [13] B. Armstrong-Helouvry, "Stick slip and control in low-speed motion," *IEEE Trans. on Automatic Control*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 1483–1496, 1990.
- [14] B. Armstrong-Helouvry, Control of machines with friction. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1991.
- [15] B. Armstrong-Helouvry, P. Dupont, and C. Canudas de Wit, "A survey of models, analysis tools and compensation methods for the control of machines with friction," *Automatica*, vol. 30, no. 7, p. 1083, 1994.
- [16] L. Márton and B. Lantos, "Identification and model-based compensation of striebeck friction," *Acta Polytechnica Hungarica*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 45–58, 2006.
- [17] K. Åström and C. Canudas de Wit, "Revisiting the LuGre friction model," *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 101–114, 2008.
- [18] S. Bennett, "Nicholas Minorsky and the automatic steering of ships," *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 10–15, 1984.
- [19] F. Mohd Zaihidee, S. Mekhilef, and M. Mubin, "Robust speed control of pmsm using sliding mode control (smc)—a review," *Energies*, vol. 12, no. 9, p. 1669, 2019.
- [20] S. Sagara and R. Ambar, "Performance comparison of control methods using a dual-arm underwater robot-computed torque based control and resolved acceleration control for uvms," in 2020 IEEE/SICE International Symposium on System Integration (SII), pp. 1094–1099, IEEE, 2020.
- [21] M. Hamandi, M. Tognon, and A. Franchi, "Direct acceleration feedback control of quadrotor aerial vehicles," in 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 5335–5341, IEEE, 2020.
- [22] S. Yuan, M. Lv, S. Baldi, and L. Zhang, "Lyapunov-equation-based stability analysis for switched linear systems and its application to switched adaptive control," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 66, no. 5, pp. 2250– 2256, 2020.

- [23] K. M. Dogan, T. Yucelen, W. M. Haddad, and J. A. Muse, "Improving transient performance of discrete-time model reference adaptive control architectures," *International Journal of Adaptive Control and Signal Processing*, vol. 34, no. 7, pp. 901–918, 2020.
- [24] I. Sekaj and V. Veselý, "Robust output feedback controller design: Genetic Algorithm approach," *IMA J Math Control Info*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 257–265, 2005.
- [25] J. Chen and W.-D. Chang, "Feedback linearization control of a two-link robot using a Multi-Crossover Genetic Algorithm," *Expert Systems with Applications*, vol. 2, no. 2 Part 2, pp. 4154–4159, 2009.
- [26] J. Kennedy and R. Eberhart, "Particle swarm optimization," in *Proceedings* of ICNN'95-international conference on neural networks, vol. 4, pp. 1942– 1948, IEEE, 1995.
- [27] B. Varga, J. Tar, and R. Horváth, "Tuning of dynamic model parameters for adaptive control using particle swarm optimization," in *Proceedings of the IEEE 10th Jubilee International Conference on Computational Cybernetics* and Cyber-Medical Systems ICCC 2022, July 6-9, 2022, Reykjavík, Iceland (A. Szakál, ed.), pp. 197 – 202, IEEE Hungary Section, Budapest, Hungary, 2022.
- [28] H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "On the limitations of pso in cooperation with fpibased adaptive control for nonlinear systems," in 2022 IEEE 26th International Conference on Intelligent Engineering Systems (INES), pp. 000181– 000186, 2022.
- [29] H. Issa and J. K. Tar, "Improvement of an adaptive robot control by particle swarm optimization-based model identification," *Mathematics*, vol. 10, no. 19, 2022.
- [30] S. Kirkpatrick, C. D. Gelatt Jr, and M. P. Vecchi, "Optimization by simulated annealing," *Science*, vol. 220, no. 4598, pp. 671–680, 1983.
- [31] S. Boyd, L. Ghaoui, E. Feron, and V. Balakrishnan, *Linear Matrix Inequalities in Systems and Control Theory*. SIAM books, Philadelphia, 1994.
- [32] P. Gahinet, A. Nemirovskii, A. Laub, and M. Chilali, "The lmi control toolbox," in *Proceedings of 1994 33rd IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, vol. 3, pp. 2038–2041 vol.3, 1994.
- [33] G. G. Koch, L. A. Maccari, R. C. Oliveira, and V. F. Montagner, "Robust \mathscr{H}_{∞} state feedback controllers based on linear matrix inequalities applied

to grid-connected converters," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 6021–6031, 2018.

- [34] S. Rohani, M. Haeri, and H. Wood, "Modeling and control of a continuous crystallization process Part 2. Model predictive control," *Computers & Chem. Eng.*, vol. 23, p. 279, 1999.
- [35] I. Varga, Model-based parameter estimation and traffic-dependent control of road traffic processes. PhD Thesis, Technical University of Budapest University of Technology and Economics, 2006.
- [36] T. Tettamanti, I. Varga, B. Kulcsár, and J. Bokor, "Model predictive control in urban traffic network management," *In the Proc. of the 16th Mediterranian Conference on Control and Automation, Ajaccio, Corsica, France*, pp. 1538–1543, 2008.
- [37] M. R. Hestenes, "Multiplier and gradient methods," *Journal of optimization theory and applications*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 303–320, 1969.
- [38] M. J. Powell, "A method for nonlinear constraints in minimization problems," *Optimization*, pp. 283–298, 1969.
- [39] L. Grüne and J. Pannek, *Nonlinear Model Predictive Control*. Springer, 2011.
- [40] A. Grancharova and T. Johansen, *Explicit Nonlinear Model Predictive Control.* Springer, 2012.
- [41] D. Q. Mayne and H. Michalska, "Receding horizon control of nonlinear systems," in *Proceedings of the 27th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, pp. 464–465, IEEE, 1988.
- [42] H. Michalska and D. Q. Mayne, "Robust receding horizon control of constrained nonlinear systems," *IEEE transactions on automatic control*, vol. 38, no. 11, pp. 1623–1633, 1993.
- [43] J. Bellingham, A. Richards, and J. P. How, "Receding horizon control of autonomous aerial vehicles," in *Proceedings of the 2002 American control* conference (IEEE Cat. No. CH37301), vol. 5, pp. 3741–3746, IEEE, 2002.
- [44] R. Cagienard, P. Grieder, E. C. Kerrigan, and M. Morari, "Move blocking strategies in receding horizon control," *Journal of Process Control*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 563–570, 2007.

- [45] Y. Kuwata, A. Richards, T. Schouwenaars, and J. P. How, "Distributed robust receding horizon control for multivehicle guidance," *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 627–641, 2007.
- [46] J. Mattingley, Y. Wang, and S. Boyd, "Receding horizon control," *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 52–65, 2011.
- [47] J. Igreja, J. Lemos, and R. Silva, "Adaptive receding horizon control of a distributed collector solar field," in *Proceedings of the 44th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, pp. 1282–1287, IEEE, 2005.
- [48] M. Tanaskovic, L. Fagiano, R. Smith, and M. Morari, "Adaptive receding horizon control for constrained mimo systems," *Automatica*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 3019–3029, 2014.
- [49] A. Lukina, L. Esterle, C. Hirsch, E. Bartocci, J. Yang, A. Tiwari, S. A. Smolka, and R. Grosu, "Ares: adaptive receding-horizon synthesis of optimal plans," in *International Conference on Tools and Algorithms for the Construction and Analysis of Systems*, pp. 286–302, Springer, 2017.
- [50] C. A. Evangelista, A. Pisano, P. Puleston, and E. Usai, "Receding horizon adaptive second-order sliding mode control for doubly-fed induction generator based wind turbine," *IEEE Transactions on control systems technology*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 73–84, 2016.
- [51] H. Karabulut, "Physical meaning of Lagrange multipliers," European Journal of Physics (physics.ed-ph); General Physics (physics.gen-ph), vol. 27, pp. 709–718, 2007.
- [52] W. Hamilton, "On a general method in dynamics," *Philosophical Transac*tions of the Royal Society, part II for 1834, pp. 247–308, 1834.
- [53] W. Hamilton, "Second essay on a general method in dynamics," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, part I for 1835*, pp. 95–144, 1835.
- [54] J. Raphson, Analysis aequationum universalis (Analysis of universal equations). typis TB prostant venales apud (printed for sale by) A. & I. Churchill, 1702.
- [55] T. J. Ypma, "Historical development of the Newton-Raphson method," *SIAM Review*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 531–551, 1995.
- [56] C. Kelley, Solving Nonlinear Equations with Newton's Method, no 1 in Fundamentals of Algorithms. SIAM, 2003.

- [57] H. Issa and J. Tar, "Speeding up the Reduced Gradient Method for constrained optimization," *Proc. of the IEEE 19th World Symposium on Applied Machine Intelligence and Informatics (SAMI 2021), January 21-23, Herl'any, Slovakia*, pp. 000485–000490, 2021.
- [58] H. Redjimi and J. K. Tar, "Approximate model-based state estimation in simplified Receding Horizon Control," *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF CIRCUITS, SYSTEMS AND SIGNAL PROCESSING*, vol. 15, pp. 114–124, 2021.
- [59] H. Issa, H. Khan, and J. K. Tar, "Suboptimal adaptive receding horizon control using simplified nonlinear programming," in 2021 IEEE 25th International Conference on Intelligent Engineering Systems (INES), pp. 000221– 000228, IEEE, 2021.
- [60] J. Acosta, "Furuta's Pendulum: A conservative nonlinear model for theory and practise," *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, vol. 2010, no. Article ID 742894, doi:10.1155/2010/742894, pp. 1–29, 2010.
- [61] H. Issa, B. Varga, and J. K. Tar, "A receding horizon-type solution of the inverse kinematic task of redundant robots," in 2021 IEEE 15th International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics (SACI), pp. 000231–000236, IEEE, 2021.
- [62] H. Issa, B. Varga, and J. K. Tar, "Accelerated reduced gradient algorithm for solving the inverse kinematic task of redundant open kinematic chains," in 2021 IEEE 15th International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics (SACI), pp. 000387–000392, IEEE, 2021.
- [63] S. J. Julier and J. K. Uhlmann, "New extension of the Kalman filter to nonlinear systems," in *Signal processing, sensor fusion, and target recognition VI*, vol. 3068, pp. 182–193, International Society for Optics and Photonics, 1997.
- [64] E. A. Wan and R. Van Der Merwe, "The unscented Kalman filter for nonlinear estimation," in *Proceedings of the IEEE 2000 Adaptive Systems for Signal Processing, Communications, and Control Symposium (Cat. No.* 00EX373), pp. 153–158, IEEE, 2000.
- [65] H. M. Menegaz, J. Y. Ishihara, G. A. Borges, and A. N. Vargas, "A systematization of the unscented Kalman filter theory," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 2583–2598, 2015.

- [66] Z. Bodó and B. Lantos, "Integrating backstepping control of outdoor quadrotor UAVs," *Periodica Polytechnica – Electrical Engineering and Computer Science*, vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 122–132, 2019.
- [67] H. Redjimi and J. Tar, "The use of multiple components fixed point iteration in the adaptive control of single variable systems," *In Proc. of the IEEE 17th Intl. Symp. on Intelligent Systems and Informatics (SISY 2019), Subotica, Serbia*, pp. 267–272, 2019.
- [68] H. Redjimi and J. K. Tar, "Investigation of noise-sensitivity of a fixed point iteration-based adaptive controller for a pendulum-like electric cart," in 2019 IEEE 13th International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics (SACI), pp. 107–112, IEEE, 2019.
- [69] H. Redjimi, P. Galambos, J. K. Tar, and K. Széll, "The effects of simultaneous noise and missing information in fixed point iteration-based adaptive control," in 2019 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics (SMC), pp. 1414–1419, 2019.
- [70] H. Khan, H. Issa, and J. K. Tar, "Improved simple noise filtering for fixed point iteration-based adaptive controllers," in 2020 IEEE 20th International Symposium on Computational Intelligence and Informatics (CINTI), pp. 77–82, 2020.
- [71] J. Houston, "Economic optimisation using Excel's Solver: A macroeconomic application and some comments regarding its limitations," *Computers in Higher Education Economics Review*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 2–5, 1997.
- [72] E. Naevdal, "Solving continuous-time optimal-control problems with a spreadsheet," *The Journal of Economic Education*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 99– 122, 2003.
- [73] H. Callen, *Thermodynamics and an Introduction to Thermostatistics (Second Edition)*. John Wiley & Sons, New York, Chichester, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, 1960.
- [74] E. Dumetz, J.-Y. Dieulot, P.-J. Barre, F. Colas, and T. Delplace, "Control of an industrial robot using acceleration feedback," *Journal of Intelligent and Robotic Systems*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 111–128, 2006.
- [75] B. Lantos and Z. Bodó, "High level kinematic and low level nonlinear dynamic control of unmanned ground vehicles," *Acta Polytechnica Hungarica*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 97–117, 2019.

- [76] J.-J. E. Slotine and W. Li, *Applied Nonlinear Control*. Prentice Hall International, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1991.
- [77] A. Dineva, A. R. Varkonyi-Kóczy, and J. K. Tar, "Combination of RFPTbased adaptive control and classical model identification," in 2014 IEEE 12th International Symposium on Applied Machine Intelligence and Informatics (SAMI), pp. 173–178, IEEE, 2014.
- [78] J. Tar, I. Rudas, A. Dineva, and A. Várkonyi-Kóczy, "Stabilization of a Modified Slotine-Li Adaptive Robot Controller by Robust Fixed Point Transformations," *In Proc. of Recent Advances in Intelligent Control, Modelling and Simulation, 2014, Cambridge, MA, USA*, pp. 35–40, 2014.
- [79] J. Tar, J. Bitó, A. Várkonyi-Kóczy, and A. Dineva, Symbiosys of RFPTbased Adaptivity and the Modified Adaptive Inverse Dynamics Controller, in: Advances in Soft Computing, Intelligent Robotics and Control (Eds. J. Fodor & R. Fullér). Springer Heidelberg, London, New York, 2014.